1954

Gene G. Spendlove v. Dr. S. W. Georges : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

(All italics, unless otherwise noted, have been added
by Appellant.)

The Clerk of the District Court in numbering the
record on appeal has placed the transcript of proceedings
under one number, 67. References to the record, there-
fore, will be designated by the letter "R" as to the num-
bers placed on the pages by the Clerk, and by the letter

“T” as to the various pages of the transcript. Also, by virtue of the fact that the Statement of Points includes, among others, failure of the Court to grant appellant’s motions for dismissal and directed verdict made at the conclusion of the respondent’s evidence, as well as failure to grant motion for directed verdict made at the conclusion of all of the evidence, the statement of facts will be divided into two portions for the convenience of the Court, one summarizing evidence to the conclusion of respondent’s case, the other to the conclusion of all of the evidence.

PLEADINGS AND JUDICIAL PROCEDURE

This action was initially commenced by complaint (R. 4) filed by respondent on October 23, 1953, in the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District in and for Utah County, State of Utah, which contained three causes of action. The first cause of action alleged that the appellant negligently operated on the respondent on April 25, 1952; the second cause of action alleged that between April 25, 1952 and September 30, 1952, the appellant negligently rendered improper post-operative care to the respondent; the third cause of action alleged that between April 25, 1952 and November 15, 1952, while respondent was a patient, appellant improperly abandoned and failed to give proper medical attention to the respondent. The action was prosecuted by John A. Spendlove, father of the respondent, as guardian ad litem, the appointment being based upon the fact that the respondent is mentally incompetent and a ward of the American Fork Training

School (R. 7). The answer of appellant (R. 9) denied the allegations of negligence and resulting injury and damage as to each cause of action, and affirmatively pleaded contributory negligence and sole negligence of respondent, and also sole negligence of third party or third parties. Pre-trial conference was held on February 26, 1954 before the District Judge (T. 1), during the course of which the respondent wholly abandoned and dismissed the first two causes of action (T. 1, 2), with the result that the case was thereafter tried as to the third cause of action of the complaint only, which alleged in substance abandonment of the patient by the appellant, Dr. S. W. Georges, between dates of April 25 and September 30, 1952. During the course of the pretrial conference, respondent's counsel revised the dates between which abandonment was alleged to have occurred to between approximately September 20, 1952 and November 15, 1952 (T. 3). The first date was further defined as the date of a conversation, which will be hereinafter detailed, wherein Mrs. Spendlove, the mother of the respondent, was notified by appellant that he was ill (T. 4). The termination date of said alleged period was identified as the date on which a release was secured by the parents of respondent for purpose of placing him in the out-patient clinic of the L.D.S. Hospital at Salt Lake City, Utah (T. 4). Respondent's counsel likewise during course of pretrial stated the specific claims which related to the act of abandonment (T. 21). These are reflected in the pretrial order (R. 23) reciting the claim of respondent as: (1) That the appellant failed to treat the

respondent's wound properly or at all. (2) That appellant failed to advise with the respondent as to the respondent's condition, and (3) That the appellant failed to advise the respondent as to the necessity of a future operation.

The pretrial change as to the period within which the abandonment was claimed to have occurred was not reflected in the pretrial order, but this order was revised by oral amendment at the opening of the case to reflect the date change as set forth above (T. 30, 31). The pretrial order also states the affirmative defense of appellant, which is in addition to general denial of negligence, that the negligence of third parties intervened and solely caused any damage or injury to respondent, as follows: That the father and mother of the respondent failed to secure medical assistance from Dr. Clair Judd, who had been associated with the case, and which was known to them; that they failed to secure such services after they knew that the appellant was confined to bed with illness; that they failed to secure medical assistance from any physician practicing in the Provo area if the same was needed; that they failed to follow appellant's instructions with reference to replacing wound dressings.

At the conclusion of respondent's evidence (T. 121) appellant moved for a dismissal of the action and a directed verdict upon the grounds detailed in the transcript, including failure of evidence to establish the sole claim of negligence which was abandonment, and failure of evidence to show any causal relation between any damage and injury and abandonment. In connection with the

claim of the respondent as to damages, it had been asserted during pretrial that there was, among other things, pain and suffering in a normal mental sense, and also that as a result of such pain and suffering the respondent had suffered a mental up-set requiring a change in his custody from the American Fork Training School to the Utah State Mental Hospital. The Court ruled at the conclusion of respondent's evidence (T. 121), that the motions were taken under advisement but that there was no evidence of any causal connection between the mental up-set and any claimed act of negligence on the part of appellant, and that this issue of damage would be eliminated from the case. The minute entry of the Clerk (R. 59) would seem to indicate that the court had dismissed the entire third cause of action, the only ground upon which the trial was based, which is inaccurate for the reasons indicated. At the conclusion of all the evidence respondent moved for a directed verdict which was likewise taken under advisement and the case submitted to the deliberation of the jury, who returned a verdict in favor of the respondent and against appellant, assessing damages in the sum of \$5,000.00 (R. 55).

Thereafter, respondent moved for a new trial, (R. 61) and at the same time moved to have the verdict and judgment set aside and judgment entered in accordance with the motions for directed verdict which had previously been made (R. 63), as well as to tax costs (R. 64). After argument on April 2, 1954 (R. 65), the Court on May 5, 1954 (R. 66) denied all of the appellant's motions.

FACTS AT THE CONCLUSION OF RESPONDENT'S CASE

Plaintiff herein, Gene G. Spendlove is age 36. He had been a ward of the American Fork Training School since 1931 (R. 49). He had at periodic intervals during these years been transferred for confinement to the Utah State Mental Hospital, although no confinement in such State Mental Hospital had occurred within approximately six years prior to 1952. Mark K. Allen, psychologist, testified that the respondent had an intelligence quota of 76 and a mental age of 11 years based on tests the last of which had occurred in 1951 (T. 119). For two weeks prior to April 25, 1952, plaintiff had been with his parents at their home in Provo on an Easter vacation, and was during this time (T. 49) under their care and custody. On this date in the late afternoon the patient was seized with a terrible pain in his abdomen (T. 50), and Mrs. Spendlove contacted American Fork Training School, where she was advised to call their family physician (T. 50). She then called Dr. S. W. Georges, appellant, who came to the home and immediately referred respondent to the Utah Valley Hospital at Provo (T. 51), operating upon him that night. The operation was protracted, and immediately following it the doctor advised Mrs. Spendlove that the respondent had a perforated ulcer, that peritonitis had set in, and that respondent was very critically ill (T. 52), a very serious condition existed, which the parents understood (T. 69). The respondent remained in the Utah Valley Hospital between April 25 and May 4, 1952 (T. 51) when he was released

and returned to his home. He remained at home that day, and the following evening the incision broke open and respondent was immediately returned to the hospital for a corrective and second operation which was performed by appellant the evening of May 5, 1952 (T. 54, 55). Respondent, following this second operation, then remained in the hospital for about five weeks, being discharged approximately June 10, 1952, when he was returned to his home. While the respondent was in the hospital following this second operation, appellant's father died in California and appellant immediately left for that State on or about May 11 or 12th (T. 70). During appellant's absence Dr. Clair Judd of Springville, Utah, cared for the patient until Dr. Georges returned about a week or ten days later (T. 71). During this period of Dr. Judd's care Mrs. Spendlove discussed the case with him, apparently by calling at Dr. Judd's office (T. 71).

The father of the patient also knew that Dr. Judd was attending this patient during appellant's absence (T. 93), and there was no objection on the part of the parents to this arrangement (T. 72).

Following the patient's discharge from the hospital about June 10, 1952, the parents of respondent, and particularly Mrs. Spendlove, took the respondent to Dr. Georges' office approximately once a week until sometime in July or August when an abscess near the incision was lanced, and thereafter they took the patient to the office about twice a week (T. 72). No record was kept by the parents as to the dates of visits to the doctor's office (T. 72). About two weeks after the discharge from the

hospital following the second operation, a cloth belt was prepared for the patient by Mrs. Spendlove. During this period (T. 57), which presumably means July and August, the incision area was running and had some red bean-like projections, which appeared in two different places (T. 73). Mrs. Spendlove testified that in late July or sometime in August she had a conversation with appellant at his offices with reference to the costs of the treatment and operations (T. 57), and at that time the doctor instructed her to change the dressing on the incision every day and to bring the patient to him about once a week (T. 57), which she did. About September 13, 1952, Mrs. Spendlove was again in Dr. Georges' office with the respondent when he advised her that the incision would require another operation and the expenses were again discussed and Mrs. Spendlove stated, "I guess I will have to appeal to my Church" (T. 58). Apparently on this date appellant gave her a prescription to be sprinkled on the incision prior to bandage replacement (T. 76). Mrs. Spendlove, during all of September and in fact until the respondent was ultimately taken to the outpatient clinic of the L. D. S. Hospital on November 7, 1952 (T. 77), used this prescription daily, and likewise changed the bandages each day. This daily treatment with prescription and bandage dressing continued during all of the period in which it is claimed the respondent did not receive medical attention from appellant.

About September 27, 1952, Mrs. Spendlove took respondent to appellant's office and was told by Nurse Jean Rowan that the appellant was not available. Mrs. Spend-

love stated to the nurse that she was going to talk about the scheduling of a further operation with appellant, and was then advised that there was no operation scheduled (T. 60). Mrs. Spendlove testified that she was not sure as to the exact date (T. 79) of this conversation, though she thought it was the latter part of September.

It should be noted that respondent makes no claim of improper operation or medical treatment of any kind as to the foregoing doctor-patient relationship, and concedes that the doctor in every respect fully performed any and all treatment and obligation which he had toward the patient. The claimed date of the period in which abandonment is asserted to have occurred commenced as of the date of a conversation with respondent which took place three days later after the last conversation toward the end of September, when Mrs. Spendlove called appellant at his home (T. 61, 80). The telephone was answered by Mrs. Georges, who advised Mrs. Spendlove that the doctor was ill, to which Mrs. Spendlove replied "Well, then, let's not bother him if he is ill, Mrs. Georges, let's just wait until he gets better" (T. 61). Mrs. Georges then referred Mrs. Spendlove to the nurse, and Mrs. Spendlove again said "Jean, let's wait until the doctor gets a little better", to which the nurse, Jean Rowan, replied "No, he can't see you, but he will talk to you" (T. 61). Thereupon Mrs. Spendlove talked to appellant. Mrs. Spendlove stated that she was sorry to hear appellant was so ill, and he advised her that in fact he was very sick and had pneumonia (T. 61, 80). Mrs. Spendlove further describes the conversation, (T. 62):

“Then I told him, I said the area around it was getting more infected and I said, ‘After the other terrible experience we had had,’ I said, ‘You can’t blame me for being worried’ *and he said, ‘Do you want another doctor?’* And I didn’t know what to say. And I said, ‘No, Dr. Georges, I don’t.’ Then he repeated, ‘Well, I am not getting out of this bed for the President of the United States.’ And I said, ‘Well if I could just be assured he would be all right until you get a little better.’ *‘Well,’ he said, ‘it has gone on this long running that way, it won’t hurt it to go a little longer.’* And I said, *‘Well, all right,’ and hung up and that was the end of the conversation.*” (T. 62)

From this time forward no call was ever made by the Spendloves to appellant, to his office or to Dr. Clair Judd, who had treated the patient with full knowledge of the respondent’s family during the period in May, 1952 when Dr. Georges’ father’s death required his absence from Utah (T. 81). Yet his family knew how to get in touch with Dr. Judd (T. 81). About six weeks later, according to Mrs. Spendlove’s estimate, the family of respondent discussed with Gerald D. Stone, Bishop of the L.D.S. Church, the possibility of referring respondent to the Out-Patient Clinic of the L.D.S. Hospital at Salt Lake City, under the Church Welfare Program. According to Bishop Stone, acting in behalf of respondent, he called appellant’s office about November 6 or 7th (T. 114) for the purpose of getting a release. He was referred by the nurse to Dr. Judd at Springville, who executed such release, which was then sent with this patient to the L.D.S. Hospital (T. 115, 116). Mrs. Spendlove

knew that the release had been secured and its purpose (T. 82).

Dr. George Miller, who was on the staff of the L.D.S. Hospital, first saw the respondent in the Out-Patient Clinic on November 7, 1952, and on his initial examination found patient to be in quite good general physical condition (T. 34), except as to the operative area where he found a seven inch scar on the upper abdomen, and about one inch to the right of the scar two small drainage areas about 1 cc. in diameter, and a hernia with a stomach distention (T. 34). Dr. Miller probed the areas and removed a small piece of cotton suture from the upper area, cauterized both areas with silver nitrate, put on a dry dressing and instructed the patient to return in two weeks and Mrs. Spendlove to change dressings (T. 35). On November 15, 1952 respondent returned to the Clinic, cotton suture was removed from each area and dressing changed (T. 35). On November 29, 1952, no sutures were found by probing, wounds were cauterized and dressing changed (T. 35). On December 27, another suture was removed from the upper area and an intestinal x-ray taken to determine the state of the ulcer (T. 35). By December 13, the two areas were smaller. Dr. Miller described the infected sores as a sinus about one-half inch deep, i.e., a surface opening which did not extend into the abdomen (T. 38). He stated that it was not unusual for pieces of suture to work to the surface at the areas of incision (T. 39). The doctor went on to point out *that it is necessary to cure the infection near the operative site because of the danger of its spreading if surgery is at-*

tempted (T. 37), and that there was nothing urgent about this third operation until such time as this infection was completely cleared up (T. 42). He also pointed out that it is desirable to let operative areas rest for sometime before repairing an incision hernia to let the muscular tone redevelop and the tissues return to normal to prevent difficulties in the operative procedures (T. 43), and that frequently a lapse of six months to a year is permitted to let the tissues restore to proper form before operating on this type of hernia case (T. 43), although that in his own practice he would wait about six months (T. 44). The doctor emphasized that the respondent had a disruption of his wound to which such wait applied, and that in fact the third operation later performed was approximately six months after the herniation had developed (T. 44).

During the entire time of *appellant's* illness and to the date on which Dr. Clair Judd executed a release of the patient on or about November 7, 1952, Mrs. Spendlove had daily changed dressings on the incision area and sprinkled the prescription given her by appellant on such area. Dr. Miller testified, after his attention had been directed to the fact that the last suture removed from the wound by probing had been removed on December 27, 1952, that it was entirely possible that the third operation would have been performed about the same time that it actually was performed, whether respondent saw a doctor or not, and "It is questionable whether he would have found all the sutures sooner than we did" (T. 45). This question was then asked: "Q. In other

words you are dealing with pure speculation?" To which Dr. Miller answered, "That's right, mother nature." (T. 45).

Dr. Miller was removed from the surgical service at the L.D.S. Hospital the end of December, 1952, but did see the respondent again on January 17, 1953, when there still was infection at the site of the incision (T. 36), and he described the purpose of the L.D.S. treatments as simply to heal the two small areas as it was impossible to do any further surgery until they were in proper surgical condition (T. 36). The third operation on respondent was performed at the L.D.S. Hospital on February 28, 1953 (T. 64), and he remained at the hospital for ten days thereafter (T. 65). About the time that respondent was taken from the Hospital he grew more nervous and it was difficult to keep him in bed (T. 66). He was then taken to the psychiatric ward of the County Hospital of Salt Lake County for one day, and thereafter to the State Mental Hospital at Provo, where he remained six months and was ultimately returned to the American Fork Training School (T. 67).

The sister of respondent, Marjorie Breinholt testified that during the four to six weeks prior to the time respondent started treatment at the Out-Patient Clinic at the L.D.S. Hospital, he got thinner, had pains, was pale, inactive and tired (T. 107). On cross-examination, however, she admitted that he had been getting thinner from the time of the first operation in April, 1952, that he was critically ill in the hospital following the first two operations, that he was pale during the period of his en-

tire illness and that he had had stomach pains (T. 109). In other words, she admitted that these symptoms described had been present long prior to the time of *appellant's* illness. The testimony of Mrs. Spendlove was essentially similar (T. 67, 82, 83, 84). No medical experts, other than Dr. Miller, were called by respondent.

FACTS AT CONCLUSION OF ALL EVIDENCE

There is limited evidentiary conflict on matters of importance. The testimony of the witnesses, including medical experts, called by appellant, provided amplification of much of the testimony and periods involved, and also established with greater accuracy various dates of consideration since the witnesses for respondent maintained no records and understandably were uncertain in many instances as to precise dates.

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