1954

# Gene G. Spendlove v. Dr. S. W. Georges : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINTS I AND II.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DISMISSAL, MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 1. IT WAS A JURY QUESTION AND THE JURY DECISION IS CONCLUSIVE.

Appellant's brief takes three positions:

(a) That there was no abandonment;

(b) That there was no evidence that the abandonment caused any damage; and

(c) That negligence of Mr. and Mrs. Spendlove caused any damage there was, if there was any damage.

Appellant's brief in this case reeks with confusion: (1) as to the facts relevant to a consideration of this case on appeal; and (2) as to the law applicable to the facts that the jury believed.

Counsel for appellant has assumed that because his client and his witnesses testified to something the jury had to believe them as against the plaintiff, and upon that false assumption has based the entire appeal in this case. Throughout the brief of appellant counsel confuses this case based on abandonment with cases relating to skill and diagnosis.

Plaintiff and his wife and daughter all testified that they had no knowledge of any connection of Dr. Judd with the case excepting for a ten day period in May 1952 when Dr. Georges was away in California by reason of the death of his father. Mrs. Spendlove denied that on October 3rd, when she talked to Dr. Georges on the phone, the name of Dr. Judd was mentioned in any way. The jury had a right to believe the evidence of plaintiff in this regard.

Surely counsel for appellant is familiar with the numerous decisions of this court to the effect that after

judgment all such disputes of fact are assumed to have been resolved in favor of respondent on appeal. And yet practically the entire appeal is based on the false assumption that the jury had to believe appellant in this regard.

There has been a lot of news in the press recently about "ghost surgeons" and we don't assume to know much about the subject, but so far as Dr. Judd is concerned in this case, excepting for that ten day period, it certainly was a phantom relationship so far as plaintiff was concerned; he knew nothing of him, did not employ him, nor authorize anyone else to do so, never consented to his acting in the case after May 22, 1952 because it was never discussed with them. Dr. Judd may be, and undoubtedly is, a thoroughly qualified physician and surgeon, but he was not plaintiff's physician and was not substituted to take care of plaintiff excepting during the ten day period in May. Appellant has erected a "ghost" straw man and then based his whole appeal on the phantom that the jury had to believe him.

Had plaintiff known that Dr. Georges was discontinuing his practice of medicine for a period of time by reason of illness, or even to take a vacation in Phoenix, Arizona for six weeks, and had they been told that plaintiff had to look elsewhere for medical service, a different case would have been presented. Plaintiff testified to no such facts; in fact the opposite. Here is a

summary of the final scenes in this tragic case as testified to by plaintiff:

(a) On Sept. 27th plaintiff and his mother went to the doctor's office by appointment to arrange for the third operation;

(b) They were told by the doctor's nurse that the operation had not been scheduled; that the doctor was not available either at home or in the office; that if he was available the following Tuesday the nurse would call; that the doctor's office would have to get in touch with Mrs. Spendlove;

(c) Silence from the doctor and his nurse;

(d) The patient is suffering with infection that is getting worse and an abdominal hernia that is breaking out until it looks like a football or basketball;

(e) The frantic mother calls the doctor and is informed that he has pneumonia and wouldn't get out of bed for the President of the United States; asks if the mother wants to get another doctor. She says, "No." The doctor then says, "it has gone this long. A little longer won't hurt."

(f) Silence; no call from the doctor; no call from the nurse; no call from anyone. The mother waiting anxiously day by day, relying on the doctor or his office to call;

(g) In the meantime the condition of the patient has become such that action has to be taken and the case is taken over by the Church;

(h) He was taken to the L.D.S. Hospital where he was found to be in need of medical attention; infected, and with abdominal hernia which needed surgery but the infection had to be cleared up first.

In this connection we must bear in mind the background of the case. This unfortunate patient was not normal. He was in a dying condition when and after the first operation was performed; full of peritonitis, and it was a question whether his life could be saved. The day following his release from the hospital the whole thing broke open again, and a second operation was performed. During his convalescence from the second operation, and while in the hospital, complications developed and again it was touch and go as to whether he would survive. Again the infection developed and a new operation was scheduled. At the last personal examination in September the doctor said the infection was getting worse and the hernia larger, and the doctor said the operation should not be delayed longer than two weeks.

Place those facts against the assurance of the doctor in early October that "a little longer won't hurt" and the fact that on November 6th the doctor at the L.D.S. Hospital (testifying for plaintiff, but hoping to help his fellow practitioner wherever he could), testified that the patient needed medical help.

Also let us look at another bit of background. The doctor had been paid \$200 for the first operation, but he hadn't been paid for the second. Ten days in the hospital for the first operation and five weeks in the hospital for the second operation, plus \$35.00 per day for medicines, had taken the family resources. In August the defendant wanted to know about money and was told that they didn't know where they could get it. He suggested and they concurred that maybe the Church could help. The doctor candidly admitted that he was waiting for this financial help to plaintiff.

Did the doctor inquire from anyone about this patient after Sept. 30, 1952? He did not.

Did his nurse inquire about this patient after Sept. 30, 1952? She did not.

Did Dr. Judd or anyone else on defendant's behalf inquire about this patient after September 30, 1952? Dr. Judd answered that one. He did not and wasn't supposed to do so.

This man, full of infection and with a herniated abdomen distended to the size of a football or basketball, was left unattended, ignored and neglected so far as medical care was concerned, excepting for the ministrations of his mother.

Up to Sept. 30th his condition had become such that he required the examination and medical services of defendant once or twice a week and his condition was



getting worse, according to the doctor. Why, then, was he left wholly unattended by anyone from then until Nov. 6th?

Defendant said he had pneumonia. Mrs. Spendlove admitted that he said he had pneumonia. Nothing was said, according to either version of the conversation as to how long the doctor would be ill. The nurse indicated he might be back in the office the following Tuesday. In these days of wonder drugs and anti-biotics pneumonia doesn't mean what it used to. In any event it was not completely disabling to the extent that the doctor couldn't lift a hand to take care of his patients. He was able to go to the hospital for his own x-rays. He was able to communicate with his office to give directions what to do with patients. He was able to get in his car and drive with a friend to Phoenix. But according to his story, he was not able to give any directions about this patient; he wasn't even able to inquire about him before taking off for Phoenix; he wasn't even able to lift the telephone before he got in his car to leave for Phoenix to find out whether this patient was dead or alive. He must have been in fairly good condition to undertake the drive to Phoenix, and it didn't all occur within a matter of hours. Jurors were not born yesterday, nor do they have to believe all that a doctor, or his nurse, or their associates say. They have the right to believe others. And it is undisputed that the last word Mrs. Spendlove gave him as to Gene's condition was that he was getting worse and needed attention.



The doctor simply walked (or motored) out on this case, without making adequate arrangements for Gene's care, while the doctor-patient relationship still existed. According to Mrs. Spendlove's evidence, according to the doctor's own evidence, she answered "No" when he asked if she wanted another doctor. That is one place where there was no conflict.

We respectfully submit that these facts make a case of abandonment for consideration of the jury at the conclusion of plaintiff's evidence and at the conclusion of all of the evidence.

*Tadlock v. Lloyd*, 173 Pac. 200, 65 Colo. 40.

In the Tadlock case, as in the instant case, the plaintiff predicated his action upon the theory that defendant failed to inform himself and give attention to the case. As the court said at page 202, "*It is in no sense an error of judgment*, but an absolute failure to attend upon the patient and secure data upon which to base any judgment, that constitutes the ground of the complaint. There is abundant testimony that defendant made no effort to inform himself of the condition of his patient, or the progress of the malady, and if damage resulted therefrom he is liable. \* \* \* *The case involves no question of either of skill or the exercise of skill by defendant. The charge is one of deliberate neglect.*"

Bear in mind that by the testimony of Dr. Georges and his office nurse, and by Dr. Judd, not one of the three ever saw Gene Spendlove after October 1, 1952,

and not one of the three ever made any personal or telephone inquiry about his condition or progress after the same date (R. 177, 225, 204-5). The last time Dr. Georges talked with Mrs. Spendlove, which was by telephone when the Doctor was ill, according to the Doctor's own testimony he said, "Mrs. Spendlove, I don't see any reason why you should be worried, all you have to do is change the dressing and everything will be all right for a little while." Miss Rowan, Dr. Georges' nurse, told Mrs. Spendlove on the occasion of Mrs. Spendlove's last visit to the office (this is Miss Rowan's own testimony), "I told her that he (the doctor) just wasn't available in his office or at his home, and that we would have to get in touch with her." She did not even deem it necessary to say the doctor was sick.

The good doctor has made a great deal out of his own illness. In fact counsel suggests to the court that the practice in Provo among the doctors there is to notify the patient that the doctor is ill and that thereafter the doctor-patient relationship is automatically terminated and the patient has to look elsewhere for a doctor. The rule that the actions of a doctor be measured against the practice in his own community applies to standards of skill and methods of treatment, and has no application at all when the charge against the doctor is complete and total lack of care. That is what the Tadlock case says. The standard requiring care is supplied by the law, not by the practice in a community. Furthermore, the testimony of Dr. Georges and his nurse, Miss Rowan, show that both went far beyond merely advising the

Spendloves about the Doctor's illness. The Doctor indicated that Gene would be "all right for a little while" (R. 177) and "it has gone on this long running that way, it won't hurt it to go a little longer" (R. 62). Miss Rowan told Mrs. Spendlove the Doctor wasn't available and "that we would have to get in touch with her". Both of the conversations show an absolute continuation by the Doctor of the doctor-patient relationship plus the assurance that everything would be all right for a little longer. Further, Mrs. Spendlove specifically said that they did not want another doctor. Thus the factual picture is very similar to that in the case of *Gerken v. Pliny-ston*, 70 N.Y.S. 793 (1901). In that case the defendant doctor set a broken arm and told the patient to keep it in a sling while he was gone on a vacation for ten days or two weeks. The doctor actually stayed away five weeks and when he examined the arm the bones had slipped and overlapped and formed an improper union. The defendant doctor testified he told the plaintiff that if she desired him to call again, she must send for him. The court held that if the jury believed the plaintiff, as they must have since they found for plaintiff, then she was entitled to recover. The malpractice consisted in abandonment, doing nothing, just as it does in Gene's case.

Judging by the testimony at the trial and the argument in appellant's brief, it would seem that proof of Dr. Georges' illness should alone excuse and condone the failure of the doctor to ever again see or treat Gene. We heartily agree with appellant that the case of *Stohl-*

*man vs. Davis*, 220 N.W. 247, 60 A.L.R. 658 (Neb. 1928) is factually close to the instant case. We also agree that there is a major point of distinction, but emphasize that the distinction only serves to highlight Dr. Georges complete and utter abandonment of Gene Spendlove. Let's compare the facts of the two cases. Dr. Davis, in the Stohlman case, left town because of his own illness, as did Dr. Georges. Dr. Davis wholly failed to notify either the patient or the patient's father before leaving town, just as Dr. Georges failed to notify the Spendloves of his departure (R. 88). Dr. Davis placed the patient in the hands of another physician who actually treated the patient for some time. Since this was done without the consent of the patient or the consent of the patient's father, Dr. Davis was held fully responsible for the errors of the substitute doctor. Dr. Georges left no doctor to treat and care for Gene, as the record absolutely shows that no medical attention was thereafter given Gene Spendlove until he was brought to the L.D.S. Hospital in Salt Lake, a month later. Even Dr. Georges' version doesn't help his position as he at no point in his testimony claims that he asked or received the consent of the Spendloves to have any other doctor take care of Gene while he motored to Arizona. Add to this the fact that no other doctor did take care of Gene and you have a major distinction between the two cases, but it is a distinction which only emphasizes and highlights Dr. Georges' utter disregard for the welfare of his unfortunate patient. One other important comparison justifies comment. The court in the Stohlman case said

that Dr. Davis' illness "did not interfere with or prohibit the giving of due and ample notice of his disability to his patient or to his patient's father". Dr. Rupper, one of appellant's witnesses, testified that Dr. Georges did leave his home and go to the hospital for x-rays, that he was able to talk to Dr. Rupper, and that to a degree he was able to instruct his nurse as to what to do about his office (R. 236). In fact Dr. Georges was well enough to drive a car from Provo, Utah, to Phoenix, Arizona (R. 225). Yet Dr. Georges didn't even advise the Spendloves of his illness, nor did his own office, until Mrs. Spendlove in desperation called the doctor's home. During that conversation the illness of the doctor first came to the attention of Mrs. Spendlove, but Dr. Georges did not advise the Spendloves to seek other medical aid. Instead he told them, "I don't see any reason why you should be worried, all you have to do is change the dressing and everything will be all right for a little while." So Dr. Georges, with the help and advice of several doctors and nurses (R. 176) suddenly finds himself well enough to drive to Phoenix, where he rests and convalesces with additional medical help, while Gene Spendlove goes without any medical attention upon the express advice of Dr. Georges that "it won't hurt it to go a little longer". "A little longer" stretched into quite a period as Dr. Georges never did again see Gene or consult with Gene's parents, nor make any inquiry as to his condition.

Neither Dr. Georges nor his office staff ever did advise the Spendloves that the doctor was going to Ari-

zona. The doctor just summarily left town without so much as a word of advice or instructions for Gene's care so far as they knew. We submit that Dr. Georges owed this poor man the best, kindest and most considerate attention possible for Gene is a mental defective who had to rely on others for his just and proper treatment. Mr. and Mrs. Spendlove are plain, trusting people who placed their trust in Dr. Georges and relied on him implicitly. But the Spendloves, like the proverbial forgotten bride, were left standing at the altar, abandoned and neglected.

According to Dr. George's own testimony Gene Spendlove was examined and treated by Dr. Georges on the following dates subsequent to release from the hospital on June 10 (R. 138), and his condition was as noted below:

June 17 (R. 138), no drainage (R. 140).

June 21, small spot appeared and drainage began (R. 142).

June 24, (R. 143).

July 1, wound draining, spot now  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch in size (R. 143).

July 3, drainage continuing (R. 143).

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